
City of Plymouth Plan Commission 
Members: Please notify us if you are unable to attend the meeting. 

Chairman; Mayor Don Pohlman 

Members: 
Angie Matzdorf (Council Representative) 
Jane Meyer 
Jeremy Schellin 
Ron Nicolaus 
John Wyatt 
Justin Schmitz 

The City of Plymouth Plan Commission will have a meeting on Thursday October 2, 2025 at 6:00 PM in 
Room 305, City Hall, and Plymouth, WI.  

The agenda will be as follows: 

1.) Call to Order & Roll Call 

2.) Approval of Minutes from September 4, 2025 

3.) Election of Vice-Chairman of Plan Commission as Required by PMC 2-4-5(e) 

4.) Condo Plat Seeking Approval: 2615 Eastern Avenue, Plymouth Retail Partners, LLC, for 
the approval of a condo plat as outlined in PMC 14-1-22 through the preliminary plat 
process. Klein (enclosure) 

5.) Zoning Code Update: Staff seeking recommendation to update to Section 13-1-192 of 
the City of Plymouth Municipal Code regarding public noticing requirements for rezoning 
petitions. Johnston (enclosure) 

6.) Communication – Letters, E-mails, or reports Related to the Plan Commission 
(Chairman, Secretary, Plan Commission Members, City of Plymouth Staff/Alderpersons) 

7.) Adjournment 

It is possible that members of and possibly a quorum of members of other governmental bodies of the municipality may 
be in attendance at the above stated meeting to gather information. No action will be taken by any governmental body at 
the above stated meeting other than the governmental body specifically referred to above in this notice. Please note that, 
upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids 
and services.  For additional information or to request this service, contact City of Plymouth ADA Coordinator Leah 
Federwisch, located in the Plymouth Utilities office at 900 County Road PP, Plymouth, WI or call 920-893-3853 

Page 1 of 43



City of Plymouth Plan Commission 
UNOFFICIAL MINUTES 

Mayor Pohlman called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM on September 4, 2025. The following 
members were present: Jane Meyer, Ron Nicolaus, John Wyatt, Angie Matzdorf, and Justin Schmitz. 
Also present: City Administrator/Utilities Manager Tim Blakeslee, Assistant City 
Administrator/Community Development Director Jack Johnston, Fire Chief Ryan Pafford 

1.) Call to Order & Roll Call 
Mayor Pohlman called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. The meeting began with a roll call 
of the Plan Commission. Mayor Pohlman welcomed Angie Matzdorf to the Plan 
Commission as new Council Representative after the retirement of Alderman Greg 
Hildebrand. 

2.) Approval of Minutes from August 7, 2025: Motion was made by Nicolaus/Schmitz to 
approve the minutes. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

3.) Site Plan Seeking Approval; 615 E. Main St, Jonathon & Samantha Puetz, for the 
construction of a 432 square foot detached garage. Puetz (enclosure) 
Jon Puetz has submitted an application to construct a 14’ by 22’ storage garage on the 
southwest corner of 615 East Main Street. The project also calls for an overhang to be 12’’ 
off the west property line and 48’’ off south property line to avoid underground power utilities. 
B-2 zoning does not have setbacks, so the placement of the garage is conforming. The
property is used as a single-family home. The Plan Commission does not typically review
additions or new constructions for residential properties, but as the property’s base zoning
is B-2 general business (housing is a permitted use), a site plan review is required by City
code.

Mr. Puetz was in attendance for any questions by the Plan Commission. Mayor Pohlman 
asked staff if there were any concerns, to which they replied there were not. 

Motion was made by Nicolaus/Schmitz to approve the site plan for 615 E. Main St. for the 
construction of a 432 square foot garage as presented. Upon the call of the roll, all voted 
aye. Motion carried. 

4.) Site Plan Seeking Approval; 3950 CTH PP, JJ Coolers LLC, for additional parking lot 
space and installation of a gravel trailer parking area. Keller, Inc. (enclosure) 
Doug Schwalbe, Keller Inc., on behalf of JJ Coolers, LLC located at 3950 CTH PP in the 
City of Plymouth has submitted a site plan review application to increase employee and 
semi-trailer parking at their warehouse facility on the City’s far east side. Parking lot 
alterations such as this require site plan review and approval by the Plan Commission per 
Sec. 13-1-173 of the Plymouth Municipal Code.  

Longstanding Plan Commissioners may remember JJ Coolers seeking and receiving site 
plan approval for a warehouse expansion in late 2019 that included much of the same as 
what they are proposing now. That building expansion portion of the project has been put 
on hold, but they would like to move forward with the increase in parking. The other key 
change from the 2019 site plan is in regards to the semi-trailer parking. The 2019 plan 
showed heavy-duty asphalt while the current plan shows gravel parking in this location. 

Page 2 of 43



Doug Schwalbe and Marilyne Lauersdorf were present to answer any questions, explaining 
much of this project was already approved with the change from asphalt to gravel semi 
parking.  
 
Commissioner Nicolaus asked if the existing fire hydrant would still have acceptable access. 
Chief Pafford responded he had no concerns and the owners also verified it will have 
adequate access if the need to be used ever came up. 
 
Motion was made by Nicolaus/Schmitz to approve the site plan for 3950 CTH PP, JJ Coolers 
LLC, for additional parking lot space and installation of a gravel trailer parking area as 
presented. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

 
5.) Site Plan Seeking Approval; Parcel number 59271822750 (southeast corner of STH 

57 and CTH PP), Sargento Cheese Inc, regarding minor revisions to previously 
approved site plans for new ~384,000 square foot industrial facility in the H-I Heavy 
Industrial zoning district. 
Sargento has requested consideration of a very minor revision to their site plan after 
reevaluating the vehicle circulation of the site. Their engineers have determined that they 
need to reverse the truck and personnel entry drives off of CTH PP. These drives will not 
move from their original location on CTH PP, they will just be designated differently to 
accommodate their respective traffic. There are also minor revisions within the site 
including relocating the pump house, as well as changing the access drive location for 
emergency vehicles between the truck driveway and the regular parking lot. 
 
Motion was made by Nicolaus/Schmitz to approve the site plan revisions for the Sargento 
property as proposed. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye with Commissioner Schellin 
abstaining. Motion carried. 

 
6.) Traffic Impact Analysis Review and Approval; For the new Sargento facility on the 

corner of STH 57 & CTH PP. Review and approval of TIA by Plan Commission 
required as part of contingent approval of site plan received at July 10, 2025 Plan 
Commission meeting. 
This item continues from item #5. At the July 10, 2025 Plan Commission meeting, 
Sargento received contingent approval for their new ~384,000 square foot facility to be 
located on the corner of STH 57 and CTH PP in the City of Plymouth. One of those 
contingencies was a traffic impact analysis (TIA) being completed and reviewed by City 
staff and approved by the Plan Commission at a future meeting. 
 
The TIA has been completed by Traffic Analysis & Design, Inc (TADI) out of Cedarburg, 
Wisconsin and furnished to the City. Staff has since worked with the Kapur to conduct an 
independent third-party review of the TIA to ensure its completeness and accuracy. 
Kapur’s findings were that the TIA meets industry standard and is acceptable. 
 
Troy Woodard from Gray AES was present online to answer any questions of the 
Sargento team. Aaron Groh from Kapur was also present who conducted the review of the 
TIA for the City. Mr. Groh’s comments summarized that a dedicated right turn lane on 
eastbound CTH PP for the east driveway is warranted. A left turn lane for westbound 
traffic is not warranted as the volumes were not high enough. He also noted that storage 
length for the westbound right turn from CTH PP to STH 57 is 10’ short of the expected 
maximum queue with 2025 existing traffic and is expected to increase to 30’ short 2036 
with build traffic, however this was a minor concern. 
 

Page 3 of 43



The Commission thanked Kapur and Gray for their work on this report. Discussion ensued 
on future upgrades to CTH PP possibly needed in the future. The mayor spoke on the 
need to have County and State buy-in as the City does not control STH 57 or CTH PP. 
 
Motion made by Wyatt/Nicolaus to accept the findings of the TIA as presented and 
reviewed by Kapur. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye with Commissioner Schellin 
abstaining. Motion carried. 

 
7.) Concept Plan Seeking Feedback; Parcel Number 59271829210, located on Section 

33 along State Highway 67 on the southwest side of the City of Plymouth, regarding 
a concept plan for a single-family residential subdivision plat and multi-family 
residential project. Neumann Developments, Inc. (enclosure) 
Neumann Development, Inc. is coming before the Plan Commission to seek general 
feedback on concept plan for a subdivision project located on the State Highway 67 curve 
just south of the Greystone subdivision on a ~67-acre vacant parcel currently owned by 
the Plymouth Industrial Development Corporation (PIDC). This is a concept plan only and 
not a formal application. The concept plan shows 119 single family lots along with 60 
multi-family residential units on the southern end of the site. Neumann would serve as 
developer for the single-family portion of the project while Premier Real Estate (PRE/3) 
would serve as developer for the multi-family portion of the project. The concept plan also 
shows a new park to be located within the development to be used by area residents. The 
development would be serviced by roads connecting to both STH 67 and the Greystone 
subdivision to the north. 
 
Bryan Lindgren and Ryan Fritsch of Neumann Developments were in attendance and 
presented their concept plan to the Commission, noting that Neumann would serve as the 
master developer and install the single-family housing, and PRE/3 would serve as the 
developer for the multi-family portion of the project. Mr. Lindgren also said Neumann was 
in early discussions with TADI to conduct a traffic impact analysis (TIA) to ensure the 
existing roadways along STH 67 and CTH PP could support this development without an 
adverse impact to traffic flow. 
 
Commissioner Schellin asked if Neumann had replicated this product in other 
communities. Mr. Lindgren said that each site demands a slightly different layout, but the 
general concept had been completed by Neumann in other communities in southeastern 
Wisconsin such as Saukville, Grafton, Waterford, Beaver Dam, etc. They have also 
worked with PRE/3 before for the multi-family portion of the project and have had good 
success working with them. Commissioner Schellin asked what the expected build out 
would be. Mr. Lindgren expected that once the infrastructure was in, they would expect to 
build about 20 homes per year with a 5-6 year build out.  
 
Commissioner Meyer asked about home prices as well as the contrast the developer 
would expect in appearance from the Greystone and South Hills subdivision to the north. 
Mr. Lindgren explained the home prices would likely fall in the high $300k’s to mid 
$400k’s. In terms of appearance, Mr. Lindgren explained Neumann takes great pride in 
their developments and has a menu of customizable home options for buyers as well as 
spec homes, which are included in the packet materials. Assistant City Administrator 
Johnston commented that while the proposed lot size and setbacks are slightly more-
dense than what Greystone and South Hills are, the average pedestrian would likely not 
be able to tell a difference from one development to the other once everything is built out 
and the landscaping matures.  
 

Page 4 of 43



Staff also asked the Plan Commission to discuss the proposed public park with the 
developer. The Plan Commission was pleased with the proposed park, but did ask for 
some small off-street parking to be provided as the concept develops. Discussion included 
what amenities would be included in the park. Staff explained this would be discussed as 
this project continues to evolve. 

The Plan Commission was generally in favor of the development as proposed and directed 
the applicant to work with staff.  

8.) Fee Schedule Update: Staff seeking recommendation to update the Zoning Fee 
Schedule last updated in 2020  
The Zoning Fee Schedule was last updated in 2020 and needs to be updated after the 
City passed a new zoning ordinance regarding additions to existing non-conforming 
structures and substandard lots. The proposed fee would be used to cover the cost of 
publication of notices in the newspaper and to neighbors within the vicinity of any future 
applications.  

It also includes updated language that concept fee application does not carry a charge as 
well puts a cost of $250 for “Plan Commission Determination of Use” as stipulated in Sec. 
13-1-111 in the Plymouth Municipal Code. Further, some language in the fee schedule is
proposed to be updated to reflect existing ordinance language that allows the City to bill
back the cost of professional consultant time related to applications in order to avoid
confusion and make that clear going forward. Finally, staff has proposed removing the fee
for “temporary signs” and temporary and final occupancy permits as those are permitted
by the Building Inspection Department. “Temporary signs” and banners are regulated
differently in the code. Temporary signs refer to signs typically posted in one’s yard like a
campaign sign or “For Sale” sign.

Motion made by Wyatt/Nicolaus to recommend to the Common Council that the fee 
schedule be updated as presented. Upon the call of the roll, all voted aye. Motion carried. 

9.) Communication – Letters, E-mails, or reports Related to the Plan Commission 
(Chairman, Secretary, Plan Commission Members, City of Plymouth 
Staff/Alderpersons) 
Assistant City Administrator Johnston noted that an October Plan Commission meeting will 
happen, but it will likely be a light meeting schedule.  

10.) Adjournment 
Motion was made by Nicolaus/Wyatt to adjourn the meeting. A unanimous aye vote was 
cast. Motion carried. 

Page 5 of 43



City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 

DATE: September 19, 2025 

TO: Plan Commission 

FROM: Jack Johnston, Assistant City Administrator/Community Development Director 

RE: Election of Vice-Chairman of Plan Commission as Required by PMC 2-4-5(e) 

Background: 
City Code anoints the mayor as the Plan Commission presiding officer (chairman). However, it 
requires the appointment of a vice-chairman annually to begin serving after May 1st to serve a 
one-year term. The vice-chairman would serve as chairman in the absence of the mayor for Plan 
Commission meetings. The vice-chairman would not have any other duties or powers outside of 
a regular Plan Commission member. Former Alderman Greg Hildebrand had previously served 
as Plan Commission Vice Chairman. With his resignation from the Council and Plan Commission, 
the Plan Commission Vice Chairman position is now open.  

Staff Recommendation:  
Staff recommends the Plan Commission appoint a Vice-Chairman to serve until May 1, 2026. 

Page 6 of 43



City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

RE: 

September 23, 2025 

Plan Commission 

Jack Johnston, Assistant City Administrator/Community Development Director 

Condo Plat Seeking Approval: 2615 Eastern Avenue, Plymouth Retail 
Partners, LLC, for the approval of a condo plat as outlined in PMC 14-1-22 
through the preliminary plat process. Klein (enclosure)  

Background: 
Plymouth Retail Partners, LLC, owners of 2615 Eastern Avenue, which houses the multi-tenant 
retail building including the Pick ‘n Save grocery store, as well as the former Kmart store, has 
submitted a “condominium plat” that would essentially divide the building into 3 distinct units that 
could be bought and sold. The parking lot area would then remain under common ownership of 
the three unit owners for upkeep and maintenance. The current configuration of the ~17.12 acre 
lot restricts the current owners from selling off a portion of the existing buildings and only allows 
leases or tenants to move into any of the spaces. A sale of the property as it exists now would 
result in the buyer purchasing the entire property and all buildings on it.  

Comprehensive Plan/Zoning:  
The property as it exists now has B-3 Business Highway District zoning and is designated on the 
Future Land Use Map on the Comprehensive Plan to stay as commercial into the future. 

If this condo plat is approved, the future owners themselves could hypothetically seek a rezone 
into a different zoning district. However, the power to rezone property lies wholly with the City. 
Typically, a proposal like this could be viewed as “split-zoning” which the City discourages. As 
such, the City would likely require any future rezoning petitions to encompass the entire property 
as it exists now. 

Condo Plat Process: 
City Code section 14-1-22 dictates that the preliminary plat approval is the only stage of approval 
required for a condominium development. As such, only Plan Commission review is required for 
this application to be approved by the City. 

Additionally, this application is somewhat unique as the site is already developed and built 
out. As such, code requirements on items such as land suitability and construction 
practices are not applicable as the site already exists.  

Staff Recommendation:  
The proposal meets code requirements and the City’s comprehensive plan. As such, staff 
recommends the Plan Commission approve the condo plat as presented. 

Page 7 of 43



Copies Mailed/Emailed To: 
I. Matthew Klein: matt@amkprop.com

Attachments: 
I. Applicant Materials

Page 8 of 43

mailto:matt@amkprop.com


Page 9 of 43



Page 10 of 43



Page 11 of 43



Page 12 of 43



Page 13 of 43



Page 14 of 43



Page 15 of 43



Page 16 of 43



Page 17 of 43



Page 18 of 43



Page 19 of 43



Page 20 of 43



Page 21 of 43



Page 22 of 43



Page 23 of 43



Page 24 of 43



Page 25 of 43



Page 26 of 43



Page 27 of 43



Page 28 of 43



Page 29 of 43



Page 30 of 43



Page 31 of 43



Page 32 of 43



Page 33 of 43



Page 34 of 43



Page 35 of 43



Page 36 of 43



Page 37 of 43



Page 38 of 43



Page 39 of 43



Page 40 of 43



City of Plymouth 
128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107 
Plymouth, WI  53073-0107 

Telephone: (920) 893-3745
Facsimile: (920) 893-0183

     Web Site:        plymouthgov.com 

DATE: September 22, 2025 

TO: Plan Commission 

FROM: Jack Johnston, Assistant City Administrator/Community Development Director 

RE: Zoning Code Update: Staff seeking recommendation to update to Section 13-1-
192 of the City of Plymouth Municipal Code regarding public noticing 
requirements for rezoning petitions. Johnston (enclosure) 

Background: 
In June 2021, the City Council passed a comprehensive update to the Section 13 of the City code, 
pertaining to the City’s zoning regulations and processes. During this ordinance update, it appears 
as though the requirement to notice nearby property owners for amendments to the zoning map 
(rezoning petitions) may have been inadvertently removed from code. A class 2 newspaper notice 
is still required by code for this process, but a direct mailing to nearby property owners within a 
certain distance of the subject property is not currently required in the City code. 

Staff feels as though adding back in a requirement to directly mail notices to property owners 
within a certain distance of a proposed rezoning is good and transparent governance. Similarly, 
this process is already required for other application petitions, like for conditional use permits 
(CUPs). 

Draft Ordinance: 
Staff has provided a draft ordinance to Attachment I for the Plan Commission to review. The 
ordinance has been reviewed and edited by the City Attorney. The updated language would 
require a direct mailing to nearby property owners within 100 feet of a proposed rezoning petition 
at least 10 days prior to the public hearing for the rezoning petition at the Common Council 
meeting. A class 2 notice in the newspaper is still required as part of this noticing process. The 
100’ distance mimics the existing distance requirements for conditional use permit applications. 

Staff Recommendation:  
Staff recommends the Plan Commission recommend the proposed ordinance for approval. If 
recommended for approval, staff will present the ordinance to the full Common Council for final 
consideration at a future meeting. As this ordinance is in the zoning chapter, a class 2 notice will 
need to be published before the Common Council can consider it. 

Attachments: 
I. Proposed Draft Ordinance

Page 41 of 43



CITY OF PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN 

Ordinance No. __ of 2025 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 13-1-192(c) OF THE ZONING CODE, CITY OF 
PLYMOUTH, WISCONSIN REGARDING NOTICES FOR ZONING CODE/MAPS AMENDMENT 

APPLICATIONS 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission has reviewed the herein ordinance and recommends 
adoption; and  

WHEREAS, a Class 2 notice of public hearing on the herein proposed amendment, pursuant to 
Wis. Stat § 62.23, was published in the Plymouth Review and held before the Common Council; and 

WHEREAS, the general welfare of the community is best served by amending the Zoning Code 
to require notice to landowners within 100 feet of a petition amend 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Common Council of the City of Plymouth does hereby ordain as 
follows: 

Section 1. Amending Code.  The following sections of the Municipal Code of the City of 
Plymouth is hereby amended to read as follows (deletions indicated by strikeout; insertions by 
underline):  

Sec. 13-1-192 Procedure for Changes or Amendments. 
(c) Hearings.
(1) The common council, following receipt of recommendation of the plan commission,
shall hold a public hearing upon each proposed change or amendment, giving notice of
the time, place and the change or amendment proposed by publication of a class 2
notice, pursuant to Wis. Stats. ch. 985. At least ten days prior, written notice shall also
be given to the clerk of any municipality within 1,000 feet of any land to be affected by
the proposed change or amendment, and in the case of a request for rezoning to the
owners of record of all land within 100 feet of any part of the subject property.

Section 2. Severability.  Should any portion of this Ordinance or the affected Municipal 
Code Section be declared unconstitutional or invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder 
shall not be affected. 

Section 3. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect the day after publication. 

Enacted on , 2025. 

CITY OF PLYMOUTH 

By: 
Donald O. Pohlman, Mayor 

Date: 

CLERK'S CERTIFICATE OF ENACTMENT 

I hereby certify that the foregoing Ordinance was duly enacted by the City of Plymouth Common 
Council and approved by the Mayor on the dates indicated above. 

Page 42 of 43



Dated: , 2025 
Anna Voigt, Clerk 

Page 43 of 43


	Vice Chairman PC Memo 10-2-25.pdf
	City of Plymouth
	128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107
	Plymouth, WI  53073-0107

	PACKET ITEM Kmart Condo PC Memo 10-2-25.pdf
	City of Plymouth
	128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107
	Plymouth, WI  53073-0107

	PACKET ITEM Public Notice Update PC Memo 10-2-25.pdf
	City of Plymouth
	128 Smith St. - P.O. Box 107
	Plymouth, WI  53073-0107




